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FOREWORD

This booklet is an attempt on the part of the author to show what Spalding
and its people were like in early Victonan times, that is between 1837 when
Victona became Queen and 1861 when Prince Albert, the Prince Consort died.

Map 1 shows the extent of the town 1n the 1850s; most roads are named as
well as principal buildings mentioned in the text. The bridges indicated in the
text are shown on Map 4 together with the more outlying roads not shown on
Map 1.

The two main sources of mformation used were the 1851 Population
Census and E.H. Gooch’s History of Spalding. In general detailed information
about families came from the Census whilst Gooch provided much valuable
background material about local worthies. Other sources are shown in the
bibliography at the end.

Cover picture of Gamlyn’s Almshouses by permission of Ayscoughfee Hall

Museum.
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In the year 1837 a new footbridge was built in Spalding across the Welland
at the junction of Love Lane and Churchgate in place of the former Dinham’s
Bridge. The cost had been raised by local subscription, and the new structure
was a fine cast iron suspension bridge. As 1837 was the year of Queen Victoria’s
accession to the throne it was called the Victoria Bridge, and the name has
remained to this day, although the original has been replaced three times.

In the following year, when Victoria was crowned, a new stone road bridge
was built over the Welland, replacing the former wooden one. It was called the
Coronation Bridge officially, but local people stuck to the name High Bridge,
which it retains today. It was an attractive, well-built structure and its strength is
evident today, 150 years afterwards, in its capacity to take the weight of modern
juggernauts, although it is now too small for present traffic requirements.

Six years later, in 1844, the old chain bridge, linking Albion Street and the
north end of High Street, was replaced by a wooden swing bridge. It was
~ officially designated the Albert Bridge in honour of the Queen’s Consort,
following their marriage in 1840, but the name never caught on. The Chain
Bridge it remained even though the double centre section, raised by chains like
a drawbridge was no longer there. However, the Prince’s name was remembered
in the nearby Albert Street, which was just being opened up about that time.

Centre
Drawbridge se
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Original Chain Bridge Fig. 1
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Perhaps even more significant, in 1848, two railway bridges were
completed on the fringes of the town, one over the South Drove Drain ang the
other over the Vernatt’s Drain, to carry the new railway from Peterborough g
Lincoln via Spalding and Boston.

All these constructions were symptomatic of a tremendous increase in the
pace of change in Britain in the 19th Century. Until the end of the previous
century Spalding had remained much as it had been for several hundred years;
a small port: a focus of land routes where roads converged to cross the Welland
at High Bridge; and the collecting and distributing centre for the surrounding
agricultural area. Most of its people were concentrated in a small. roughly
triangular area of land slightly higher than the surrounding fens and bounded
approximately by the present Westlode Street, New Road and Swan Street on
the north, the Sheep Market and the Market Place to the west, and High Strect
to the east. In addition Pinchbeck Road led northwards from this historic core
area and Church Street south-castwards from High Bridge. There was also a
slightly detached settlement cluster at the junction of Love Lane and Churchgate
on both sides of the river.

However, between 1801 and 1851 the population of the town nearly
trebled, from 3,296 in 1801 to 8.829 in 1851, basically because of a continuing
high birth rate and a declining death rate. Many of the increasing numbers werc
crammed into the existing core area, especially in Double Street and Westlode
Street, but new building also took place along the main approach roads to the
town. This early ‘ribbon development” extended especially along Bourne Road.
Holbeach Road and London Road, and consisted mainly of cottages for ordinary
working people, Most of the finest houses of the town had already been built by
early Victoria times, on Churchgate, High Street, Cowbit Road and London
Road, close to the river. They included Ayscoughfee Hall and Fairfax House on
Churchgate; Holland House, Elmsford House. Cley Hall and Welland House on

High Street; and Westbourne House, Langton House and Claremont on Cowbil
Road (see Map 1),

Two buildings of rather a different character were erected in the first half
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of the 19th Century; they were the Prison or House of Correction (1826) wher,
Llovds TSB and the County Library are today, and the Union House or
R'u’u;khnuac (1836) on Pinchbeck Road near its junction with the presen West
Elloe Avenue. The prison was enlarged n 1848 and 1851-1852, possibly
hecause the increase in population over the half century had produceq i
crime. In the early Victonan period the Governor and Matron were Mr. and Mrs.
Bates and the Chaplain the Revd. J. Lewis. In [851 it held 68 prisoners at he
end of March. Of these 61 were men and 7 women (see Fig. 2).

The Union House was built following the Poor Law Amendment Act of
1834 to reduce the burden of the poor rates. The Master and Matron were
George and Catherine Craven in 1851 when there were 407 inmates at the end
of March. nearly half of whom were children under 15. They came from a union

of 9 local parishes (see Map 2).

SPALDING PRISON

The inmates of the prison and the workhouse only represented a small
proportion of the people of the area (about 2.5%). However, a considerable
number of the rest were still very poor. Actual totals are difficult to assess, bul
a study of the 1851 population census suggests that possibly about 3,000 out of
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7.000 in the built-up area of the town were fairly close to destitution. These

members of the “labouring poor® consisted of agricultural |

abourers, who were
especially numerous along Bourne

Road and Holbeach Road: of general
labourers living in Bourne Road and the southern part of London Road; of

washerwomen and the like, especially in Bourne Road and Holbeach Road; and

of people of no apparent occupation, the majority being women, al

ong Bourne
Road, Holbeach Road and London Road.

There was only a small minority of landed gentry, property owners, and

professional people who lived in relative luxury in the town. but all sections of
society faced the same hazards, namely a lack of mains water and drainage and
the consequent disease and death which ensued. Even Queen Victoria on her
accession in 1837 had no bathroom in Buckingham Palace, but she did have a
portable bath in her bedroom. The inhabitants of Spalding, however, obtained
their water supplies from wells or bought them from water carriers at the rate of
I farthing for 2 buckets. Since the poorer people couldn't afford to buy they had
to use polluted well or river water,

The nearest supplies of reasonably decent water were in the Blue Gowt

Drain or the Vernatt's, although a pond known as Parkinson’s Pit seems to have

-
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F:g 3 Water Lane. Parkinson's Pit area in 1988
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ant source, especially in summer. It was situated in the triangylyy
=

been an 1mport
located at the junction of Water Lane and St. Thomas's Roaq

area which was

The pond has lon
It has been suggested that the name “Water Lane’ is derived from the

the outline of which was still shown on the 1931 Edition

o been filled in, but the triangular area still remains,

presence of the pond.
25 inch O.S. map. The relatively safe nature of the water was probably due 1o

the lack of dense settlement so that chances of pollution from adjacent cess pits

was only slight.
An even more fundamental hazard than the lack of pure water was the

complete absence of mains drainage in the town. In consequence sewage
accumulated in cess pits and the liquids seeped through the soil to pollute the
water in nearby wells. When houses were closely packed together, as they were
in the town centre. most of the sub-soil was heavily contaminated and water
supplies mevitably suffered. To compound the problem when privies were
emptied the contents often had to be carried through the houses for disposal, and
in some cases the night soil had to be kept in the cellars.

In the poorer areas there was much overcrowding in consequence of the
increase of population, and malnutrition was common so that when disease
attacked there was a lack of resistance. especially in the case of young children.
However, Spalding seems to have avoided a major outbreak of chaolera, the most
feared disease at the time, but certainly seems to have had its fair share of the
other afflictions which were prevalent. These included typhoid fever (which
killed Prince Albert in Buckingham Palace, where the drains were defective).
dysentery, typhus, tuberculosis, scarlet fever and diphtheria.

In consequence the death rate was about twice what it is today and in 1850,
for instance, 173 deaths were recorded in the town, 88 of which (50.8%) were
of children of 5 or under. The figures for the various age groups are given in the
following table:

Age Group 0-1 1-5 5-20 20-30 30-40 40-50 50-60 60-70 70-80 80+ TOTAL

Number 72 16 6 14 17 9 4 11 14 10 173
% 41.6 92 35 81 98 52 23 64 81 58 10
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These figures clearly indicate the appalling rate of infant mortality at the
time, but suggest that if infancy could be survived there was quite a good chance
of living to a reasonable age.

Sadly, one of the infants who failed to survive in 1850 was the second
daughter of Maurice Johnson by his second wife Isabella. The child died at
Ayscoughfee Hall when only 2 months old and her death emphasises the stark
fact that rich and poor alike shared in the general suffering. As result of her
death the Johnsons left Spalding in 1851 for Suffolk. which was thought to be a
healthier place, and lived at Blundeston Lodge, where Maurice died in 1864.
After their departure Ayscoughfee Hall was let to Samuel Parke of Sysonby
House, Leicestershire,

Maurice Johnson was the son of the curate at Moulton, an elder brother of
Theophilus Fairfax Johnson, who lived at Holland House, on High Street. All
the Johnsons were very rich, gaining their wealth initially from land drainage
and enclosure. The family first arrived in Spalding from Sutterton in the carly
I7th Century, and came to own Ayscoughfee Hall by marriage into an unrelated
Johnson family. The most famous member was, of course, the Maurice Johnson
who founded the Gentlemen’s Society early in the 18th Century.

However, by early Victorian times 3 branches of the family were resident
in Spalding; in Holland House, Fairfax House, now demolished, and
Ayscoughfee Hall. The grandest of these was Theophilus Fairfax Johnson who
originally lived in Cley Hall in High Street, but moved into Holland House in
the 1840's. He was the second surviving son of the Revd. Dr. Maurice Johnson,
who was a former Vicar of Spalding, and like many in his situation held a
number of important posts, notably as Captain of the South Holland Yeomanry
Cavalry, Justice of the Peace, and Deputy Lieutenant of the County. The peak of
his career was probably reached when he became High Sheriff of Lincolnshire
in 1847,

Holland House derived its name from Lord Holland and was built of high
quality materials: its thick walls have stood the test of time, including a major
fire. In the early Victorian period it must have been a very splendid residence,
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30 rooms altogether, as well as extensive cellars. The grounds

with more than
covered 8 acres and stretched from High Street to Halmer Gate, with wide

carriage drives. Theophilus Fairfax built the lodge on Halmer Gate, a large
atory and elasshouses, and added stables on High Street across what js

conserv .
junction with Holland Road. He died in 1853 and was buried in the

now the
Parish Church.

Fig 4. Holland House

His wife, Millicent Ann, was the niece of the Revd. William Moore, Vicar
of Spalding from 1825 to 1866. In later years she became rather eccentric and
employed a local band to play her to sleep every night. She occupied the south
wing of Holland House, without the big bay windows, and the musicians played
in the music room next to her bedroom. The *band’ was a small ensemble and
included violins, harp and flute. On fine summer evenings a crowd would
assemble outside the house to listen to the music. She died in 1880,

They only had one child, Theophilus Maurice Stephen Johnson, who WS
har.dIy 4 feet tall because hijs legs did not appear to have developed properly-
This was presumably a medical condition although local rumour had it that his
mother wouldn't allow him to use hjs limbs because he was so superior to other

10



children. They story secems highly unlikely, but it casts some light on class
attitudes at the time.

In any event T.MLS. Johnson seems to have managed quite well in spite of
his handicap. According to E.H. Gooch in his “History of Spalding” he lived at
Cley Hall until huis father’s death in 1853, when he moved to Holland House.
However. the 1851 census shows that he and his first wife, formerly Caroline
Rigg of Westmorland. were already there by 1851. Like his father he was a
Deputy Licutenant of the county, and was appointed a Justice of the Peace. He
was also a Senior Spalding Town Husband and a director of the waterworks,
After the death of his first wife in 1871 he married his housekeeper, the widow
of a clergyman, and later left the district to live in Tunbridge Wells, where he
died in 1892, aged 65.

The Fairfax House branch of the Johnsons was represented by two ladies
in early Victorian times, the Misses Elizabeth and Mary. They were the
daughters of the Revd. Walter Maurice Johnson, a former army officer who took
holy orders and became Vicar of Weston St. Mary and Master of the Grammar

] %& i

Fig. 5. Fairfax House
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School. They were living in the Master’s Lodge when Queen Victoria came to
the throne, as Fairfax House (formerly Gayton House and later Holyrod
House) was occupied by a tenant. However, in 1841 they were able to move i
and remained there until their deaths, Miss Elizabeth in 1872 and Miss Mary in
1878.

They lived relatively simply for such wealthy people and in 1851 the
census records that they had 5 servants, including a footman. (At Holland House
there were 14). They must have provided a problem for the census enumerator
as neither of them appears to have been willing to recogmse the other as the head
of the household. A compromise must have been reached by which they were
described in the census return as ‘joint heads of household’, in defiance of the
rules.

They are best known for their local benefactions, notably towards the cost
of building St. Peter’s Church on Priory Road, now demolished: towards St.
John’s Church on Hawthorn Bank, and, of course, towards the Johnson Hospital.
They appear to have given altogether a total of some £40,000, an immense sum
for the time, and an indication of the wealth of the family.

Families such as the Johnsons were important not only for their
benefactions and their acceptance of a range of responsibilities towards the
community. They provided work for servants in their homes and gardeners n
their grounds, and patronised a wide range of shops in the town as well. The
townspeople also liked them to take the lead in various social events, for in such
a class ridden society their attendance at a function more or less guaranteed a
good turnout of the more ordinary mortals. When they died or left the district
permanently they could not be replaced and it is sad that by the end of the 19th
Century the three Spalding branches of the family had all died out.

They were all prominent churchgoers, and it is no coincidence that a path
from the south west corner of the churchyard ran to the church from the gruundﬂ
of Ayscoughfee Hall and Fairfax House for the convenience of the Johnsons. I
Benerul- the upper middle classes were churchgoers and the lower middle
professional and tradesmen were chapel attenders although there were

12
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exceptions. In the case of the Maples family, Ashley and Edward were
Anglicans, but brother Henry was a deacon at the Independent Chapel. It was
also not unknown for tradespeople who were initially chapel goers to transfer
their allegiance to the Parish Church as they became more affluent. There was
much concern, though, that many of the labouring poor did not attend any kind
of service, often feeling that religion was exclusively a middle class activity.

We are fortunate to have some idea of the extent of religious attendance in
early Victorian times from a census taken in 1851 to record the number of
church and chapel goers on March 30th. For the country as a whole the average
attendance was 60% of possible worshippers; in Spalding the figure was 57%
which compares reasonably well with the overall average. That it was slightly
lower may be partly due to the rapid increase in population which led to a
shortage of places of worship in early Victorian times.

The two leading figures in the Church of England in Spalding at the time
were the Revd. William Moore D.D. and his son, the Revd. Edward Moore M.A.
The Revd. William came to Spalding early in the 19th Century as a curate and
in 1808 he married into the Johnson family by taking as his wife Ann Elizabeth,
daughter of Maurice Johnson of Ayscoughfee, the then Vicar of Spalding. In
1825 he succeeded to the post, which he retained until his death.

He was well liked in the district and lived in considerable affluence in the
parsonage, with his wife and family. In the census of 1851 he described himself
as the ‘Perpetual Curate of Spalding’ and the presence of 6 servants indicated
some considerable wealth. By then his son Edward was living in the Master’s
Lodge as Master of Spalding Grammar School, and his other four children seem
also to have left home. He was also getting on in years and it would appear that
he did little to keep up the condition of the Parish Church, which was
deteriorating rapidly. He died in 1866 and was the last person to be buried in the
actual building,

Much has been written about Edward Moore, who must have been a very
remarkable person. In his youth he seems to have been rather wild and difficult
1o control, but on reaching maturity he settled down and eventually became a

13



Fig. 6 The Parsonge

pillar of the establishment; in fact he became the dominant personage in
Spalding in the 1860s, remaining so until the end of his life in 1889.

However, in early Victorian times he was just beginning to make his way.
In 1835 he became Master of the Grammar School, and in 1837 was appointed
Perpetual Curate of Whaplode Drove. His duties as Master were not heavy, as
only a few boys attended the school at that time and the actual teaching was
done by the usher, the Revd. Michael Sisson. He was also the driving force
behind the restoration of the Parish Church, and eventually became Vicar of
Spalding on the death of his father in 1866 when he resigned most of his other
posts.

Like dominant men of all ages he was very active in many different
spheres. As a churchman he was very capable and conscientious, although

: : : : : r and

preaching was not his forte, However, his sermons were delivered in a cled d
1 . : ucte

concise manner. He wag g High Churchman and his services were cond

ith - . .ac gs he
with a considerable amount of ritual. Unfortunately he made enemics 35 ;
always did what he felt was right, regard was indifferen

less of local opinion and
to any offence which might be caused.
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Much of his local power derived from his control of various institutions
and administrative bodies. He became a Justice of the Peace in 1857, and in
1861 was elected Chairman of the Spalding Bench. As a magistrate he was noted
for his severity, which was publicly illustrated by the ‘geranium’case when he
sentenced a girl to 14 days in prison for stealing a single flower from the Abbey
Buildings. Nevertheless he was respected for his considerable legal knowledge
and his insight into human nature.

Education was also a particular interest. In addition to being Master of the
Grammar School he became manager of the National Schools when they were
set up in 1844, and had a close association with the Willesby School.

In another age and in different circumstances he might well have become
a successful industrialist or a soldier. He certainly had considerable business
acumen, but it was not to be and so he became a great autocrat and eventually
virtual ruler of Spalding for much of the Victorian period.

In early Victorian times the Parish Church was the only Anglican place of
worship in the town, and according to the 1851 survey of religious attendance
there were more Nonconformist attendances than Anglican (2,238 compared
with 1,550). The largest attendance (950) was at the General Baptist Chapel on
Chapel Lane (Minister Revd. J.C. Jones), followed by the Wesleyan Methodist
Chapel on Broad Street (Steward H. Longbottom) with 620. At the Independent
Chapel on Pinchbeck Street (Minister Revd. P. Strutt) there were 401, and at the
Primitive Methodist room in Malting House Square, 100. Chapels with smaller
humbers were the Particular Baptists on Love Lane (Minister Revd. B, Flory)
with 84, the Foundry Independent on Holbeach Road (Preacher J.B. Platt) with
03 and the Friends Meeting House in Double Street (Registrar Manager J.
Neave) with 28.

Of the ministers named above the Revd. J.C. Jones has been well described
in "‘Aspects of Spalding” by Leveritt and Elsden, but an almost exact
contemporary was the Revd. Percy Strutt, Minister at the Pinchbeck Street
Chapel for 30 years from 1841 to 1871. He was born in 1814, the year before
the Battle of Waterloo, and trained for the ministry at Highbury College. His

15
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first post was at Carlisle, followed by 3 years at Liverpool, after which he came

to Spalding.
Although he did not have the social standing, connections, or wealth of

clergymen such as the Moores he was young (27 on his arrival), energetic and
already experienced so that he soon made his mark. The Independent Chapel
members numbered only 29 in 1841 and £60 was still owed on the building, but
within a year the debt had been cleared. In 1856 the Sunday School was built for
£850. most of which had been raised before the building was completed. A year
later galleries were erected in the Chapel, costing £300, to increase the
accommodation and by his retirement in 1871 membership had gone up to 350.

Like many of his contemporaries he moved house fairly frequently, as most
dwellings in the town were available for rent. In 1851 he was living in New
Road in fairly humble circumstances between a butcher’s shop and a rope-
maker’s premises. At that time he had a wife, son and two daughters to support
and was only able to employ a single female servant. The presence of a pupil
living in his household indicates that, like many clergymen, he also ran a small
school to augment his salary. This is confirmed by White’s Lincolnshire in 1856,
which stated that he had a school and took boarders; he was then living in
Pinchbeck Road. By the 1860s he seems to have settled down on Leathercote
Lane (Tower Lane) in the ‘far house down the lane™. This unpretentious but
attractive building still exists today (see Fig.7).  *E.H. Gooch History of Spalding p487

Fig.7
Revd. P. Strutt’s House.




After his resignation in 1871 he seems to have left the district, and in spite
of the ill-health given as the reason for his resignation he ministered at Kilburn
for a time and also became Chairman of the Congregational Board of Ministers.
He died in 1890, aged 76, at Stamford Hill in London.

when the Revd. Strutt arrived in Spalding in 1841 he must have done some
of his travelling by coach along the local turnpike roads as there was no railway
to the town at that time. These turnpikes had been established by Acts of
parliament in the previous 80 years and led to Donington, Deeping, Tydd Gote,
Crowland and Bourne in the immediate area (see Map 3). They were built by
wrnpike trusts which let out the tolls for profits, at intervals, to the highest
bidders. Road conditions varied from time to time, according to location and
weather, the surfaces ranging from acceptable to atrocious.

At the time of the Revd. Strutt’s arrival the stage coach services were just
past their peak, owing to the competition of the railways. However, in the
Spalding area travel still had to be by coach until the nearest railway link was
reached. Local passengers generally came into the town on market days on carts
operated by carriers from Donington, Wigtoft, Long Sutton, (then called Sutton
St. Mary), Crowland Deeping and Bourne. The river was mainly used for the
carriage of goods, although some passengers came down from Crowland on
market days, landing at steps near High Bridge.

The most important commodity carried by boat in early Victorian times
was coal, which was landed at the quay in front of the gas works from 1832
onwards when they were first opened.

Fig. 8 Coal unloading quay
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Immediately gas was produced it was used to illuminate the Wesleyan and
Jndependent Chapels on Broad Street and Pinchbeck Street respectively. They
were both fairly near the gas works and main were easy to lay in road which
lacked the hard surfaces of today. Even so the use of gas was limited to public
puildings and the homes of the rich in early Victorian times. The poorer people
used candles (there was a factory in Double Street), but many of the citizens had
oil lamps; they were fuelled by whale oil, which burnt smokily, or by colza seed
oil which was more efficient and could be burnt inside a glass globe. Matches
were known as lucifers and were struck in a fold of sandpaper.

By the time of Victoria’s accession to the throne Spalding’s streets were lit
by gas, the lamps being installed at a distance of 60 yards, with burners of the
‘bat-wing’ type. They were initially installed and paid for by a special yearly
rate, and to save money were not used between May 1st and August 31st. Even
during the lighting season they were not lit at the time of the full moon and for
further economy the lamps were put out one hour after moon rise during the
quarter after full moon. This practice actually continued, with modifications,
until well into the present century.

The gas works were originally built by George Malam, but in 1841 they
were bought by Ashley Maples and W. Crosskill. The latter came from Beverley
and presumably had some knowledge of gas production as he acted as manager,
whereas the former, a prominent local solicitor, provided most of the money.

Ashley Maples was one of 16 children born to Thomas and Ann Maples of
the Market Place. Of these some died young and others left the district so that
by 1842, early in Victoria’s reign, only Ashley, the first in the family to become
a solicitor, Edward, a corn, timber and coal merchant and Henry, a wine and
Spirit merchant remained economically active in Spalding. A sister, Ann, lived
with Edward, and Thomas Maples was listed as a farmer and grazier.

_ Ashley was the only one of the three Spalding brothers to marry, but like
hl?' father also had a large family. He married in 1835 when he was 29 and his
Wife Harrjet only 19. In 1841 the census records 2 children; by 1851 there were
8 and py 1861 12 had been born. The family home was Elmsford House, on
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here the present Holland Road car park now is. Such 5 large
d a considerable number of servants and by 1861 there were §
all told; a governess, groom/coachman, housemaid, under housemaid, cook,
kitchen maid, nursemaid and undernursemaid.

Ashley Maples himself was typical of many 19th Century men of
prominence in the range of his activities, which must have required a great deg]
In addition to his work as a solicitor he was Clerk to the Board of
Registrar, Improvement Commissioner and Town

High Street, W
household require

of energy.
Guardians, Superintendent
Husband. He was active in politics and the church and was, of course, a local

entrepreneur. His business a
0 in 1862 after refusing an earlier offer from the

cumen was demonstrated when he eventually sold

the gas works for £13,70
Improvement Commissioners for only half the sum.

His brother Edward also lived in High Street, but nearer to High Bridge in
the house next to the former Messrs. Oldacres’ warehouse. By 1851 he
described himself simply as a timber merchant in the census, but by 1861 had
expanded the description to ‘a timber merchant and steam sawmill owner
employing 8 men’. Henry, on the other hand, lived in Cowbit Road in the house
now known as Westbourne Lodge, but then called Claremont; his wine and spirit
business was on Red Lion Street. He too had a wide range of interests and was
a director of the waterworks, in which he showed a life long interest, a Town

Husband and a deacon at the Independent Chapel.

g Fig 9. Claremont -
——=48 Residence of








































